

Therapeutic plasma exchange in pregnancy: a literature review

Wind, M.; Gaasbeek, A.G.A.; Oosten, L.E.M.; Rabelink, T.J.; Lith, J.M.M. van; Sueters, M.; Teng, Y.K.O.

Citation

Wind, M., Gaasbeek, A. G. A., Oosten, L. E. M., Rabelink, T. J., Lith, J. M. M. van, Sueters, M., & Teng, Y. K. O. (2021). Therapeutic plasma exchange in pregnancy: a literature review. *European Journal Of Obstetrics And Gynecology And Reproductive Biology*, *260*, 29-36. doi:10.1016/j.ejogrb.2021.02.027

Version:Publisher's VersionLicense:Creative Commons CC BY 4.0 licenseDownloaded from:https://hdl.handle.net/1887/3205133

Note: To cite this publication please use the final published version (if applicable).

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

European Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology and Reproductive Biology

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/ejogrb

Therapeutic plasma exchange in pregnancy: A literature review

M. Wind^{a,*}, A.G.A. Gaasbeek^b, L.E.M. Oosten^c, T.J. Rabelink^b, J.M.M. van Lith^a, M. Sueters^a, Y.K.O. Teng^b

^a Department of Obstetrics, Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden, the Netherlands

^b Department of Nephrology, Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden, the Netherlands

^c Department of Immunohematology and Blood Transfusion, Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden, the Netherlands

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 26 October 2020 Received in revised form 24 January 2021 Accepted 25 February 2021

Keywords: Therapeutic apheresis Therapeutic plasma exchange Pregnancy

ABSTRACT

Therapeutic plasma exchange (TPE) is indicated as a treatment for a wide array of diseases, extensively addressed in the Guidelines of the American Society for Apheresis. In pregnancy, TPE is an uncommon event and application is largely based on extrapolation of efficacy and safety in a non-pregnant population. This review intends to describe the currently available experience of TPE in pregnancy to help clinicians recognise indications during pregnancy and to support current guideline recommendations with literature-based experiences. In order to identify the clinical indications for which TPE is applied in pregnant women, we performed a literature search including studies till November 2019, without a start date restriction. Data extraction included medical indication for TPE and safety of TPE in pregnant women. 279 studies were included for analysis. Nowadays, TPE is predominantly applied for thrombotic microangiopathies, lipid disorders and a variety of autoimmune diseases. The application of TPE during pregnancy remains largely empiric and relies on individual case reports in the absence of high-quality studies and definitive evidence-based guidelines. Safety profile of TPE during pregnancy appears to be comparable to application of TPE in non-pregnant patients. In conclusion, based on the limited evidence that we found in literature with a high risk of publication bias, TPE procedures can be used safely during pregnancy with the appropriate preparation and experience of a multidisciplinary team. © 2021 The Author(s). Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY license

ublished by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

Contents

Introduction	30
Methods	30
Results	30
Safety issues	30
Safety issues identified from the literature review	30
Potential safety issues in pregnant patients based on pathophysiology	30
Overview of commonly reported indications for TPE in pregnancy	33
TPE in red cell alloimmunization	33
TPE in thrombotic microangiopathies	33
TPE in autoimmune diseases	34
Therapeutic apheresis in metabolic diseases	34
Discussion	34
Ethics	35
Contribution to Authorship	35
Acknowledgements	35
References	35

* Corresponding author at: Department of Obstetrics, Leiden University Medical Center (LUMC), P.O. Box 9600, 2300 RC, Leiden, the Netherlands. *E-mail address:* m.wind@lumc.nl (M. Wind).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejogrb.2021.02.027

0301-2115/© 2021 The Author(s). Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).



Review article





Introduction

Therapeutic plasma exchange (TPE), the most broadly adapted apheresis technique, is an extracorporeal treatment which focuses on removal of soluble components from plasma. The purpose of TPE is reduction of a pathogenic substance or correction of plasma proteins. In TPE, blood of the patient passes through a medical device which separates plasma from other components of blood, which can then be removed and reinfused with the addition of a replacement fluid, such as albumin, saline 0.9 % or plasma [1]. Various apheresis procedures are used for a wide array of clinical indications in non-pregnant patients. The 8th edition of the American Society for Apheresis (ASFA) guidelines provides clear definitions for the different apheresis procedures and their therapeutic indications [1].

Since many of the diseases listed in the ASFA guidelines can also be present in pregnancy, they state in their guidelines that apheresis can be performed safely during pregnancy, while warning for potential side effects such as hypotension which theoretically can result in decreased placental perfusion and fetal oxygenation [1–5]. Also, important physiological changes during pregnancy, such as increased circulating blood volume, haemodilution, increased cardiac output, and potentially increased risk of infections, should be kept in mind when performing apheresis procedures in pregnant women [2]. Furthermore, from a pathophysiological point of view, TPE may also be of benefit for pregnancy-specific diseases as pharmacological treatments during pregnancy are often hampered by potential fetal toxicity.

It is important to realize that the rationale for employing TPE in pregnant women is predominantly based on pathophysiological thinking (rather than evidence-based), on the premise that the removal of a pathogenic substance has the potential to benefit mother and the unborn child. Moreover, there is a high threshold for treating physicians to initiate TPE in a pregnant woman, likely because TPE in pregnancy is rare in addition to the lack of high quality, evidence-based studies on the efficacy and safety of TPE in pregnancy.

Therefore, we performed a literature review to provide an overview of potential safety issues to which treating physicians can anticipate to and a literature-based framework on the most commonly reported indications for TPE in pregnancy. Since the first report of TPE in pregnancy in 1968, TPE techniques have significantly improved, our knowledge on the pathophysiology of many diseases has expanded, and TPE has gained a more established place in the physician's therapeutic armamentarium for maternal disease during pregnancy [1,2,6,7].

Methods

In order to identify the clinical indications for which TPE is applied in pregnant women, we performed a literature search using a search strategy including the terms "blood component removal", "apheresis", "plasma exchange", and "plasmapheresis" combined with keywords for pregnancy (detailed search strategy in supplemental file). The search included studies published till November 2019 in PubMed, Embase, Web of Science and Cochrane library, without a start date restriction. Conference abstracts and studies in other languages than English were excluded. Because the present review focuses on apheresis procedures that remove soluble components, we excluded studies describing cell-separating apheresis procedures (i.e. adsorptive cytapheresis, erythrocytapheresis, red blood cell exchange, thrombocytapheresis, leukocytapheresis, and rheopheresis). No limit was placed on quality of any article. However, studies without full-text availability, missing data on the numbers treated, or clinical indication, had to be excluded.

In order to estimate reported complications of TPE in pregnancy, data extraction from each individual study was performed by 3 investigators independently. Duplicate studies or overlap in patients reported from the same cohort or institution were identified, in which case only the most recent or larger cohort paper was selected. Data on any reported complications was collected and accumulated. Descriptive statistics were used to summarize the frequency (%) of reported side effects.

Results

Importantly, we found no clinical trials specific to pregnant women on the use of TPE, which supported our previously mentioned premise that pregnant women are treated based upon extrapolating data from studies in the non-pregnant population. We included 279 studies for analysis of which 239 case reports/ series, 24 retrospective and 16 prospective cohorts (Fig. 1). The most reported clinical conditions for which TPE was applied in pregnant women were summarized in Table 1. We included the grade of recommendation for the use of TPE in each clinical condition, extracted from the most recent 8th edition of the ASFA guidelines [1]. It is noteworthy to recognise that, in 8/15 (53 %) indications reported in pregnant women TPE was strongly recommended for non-pregnant patients. Vice versa, in 7/15 (47 %) indications TPE was only weakly recommended with moderate to very low-quality evidence supporting its application. Below, we provide a more in-depth description of safety issues and reported indications for TPE, which were summarized in Fig. 2.

Safety issues

Safety issues identified from the literature review

Table 2 summarizes the results of our data extraction of all selected studies resulting in a calculated frequency and incidence of side effects and complications of TPE in pregnant women. For comparison we illustrated, the occurrence of these identical side effects as summarized in a study on >15.000 procedures for nonpregnant patients [8]. As such, in the non-pregnant population, the most common side effects of TPE include: urticaria (0.7-12.0%) or rigors (1.1-8.8%) from transfusion-related allergic reactions, perioral and digital paraesthesia due to hypocalcaemia (1.5-9.0%), hypotension (0.4-4.2%), and headaches (0.3-5.0%) or muscle cramps (0.4–2.5%) caused by hypovolemia [5,8]. The number of side effects in pregnancy found in literature shows that the incidence of hypotension is higher (5.2 %), while all other complications are either equal or less than in the non-pregnant population. One of the largest cohorts included, performed apheresis procedures in 57 pregnancies in a single centre and had 20 (2.1 %) adverse events during 13.251 sessions, of which 65 % technical problems, and none required prolongation of hospitalization [3].

Potential safety issues in pregnant patients based on pathophysiology

The most reported and important side effect of TPE in pregnancy is the maternal blood pressure drop during the procedures [3,5,9–12]. Fetal distress in the form of change in heart beat frequency has been described in four studies (1.1 % of pregnancies); all in relation to maternal hypotension during TPE, and all were transient after saline infusion [9,13–15]. Therefore, maintaining an adequate maternal intravascular volume by saline infusions during TPE is essential and, in the second or third trimester, the patient should lay on her left side to avoid compression of the inferior vena cava by the gravid uterus [1]. In a substantial amount of studies the safety on placental blood flow was maintained by frequent umbilical doppler measurements and fetal cardiotocography in between or during apheresis



Fig. 1. Flowchart of included publications for the literature review.

Table 1

Reported studies categorised by their indications for apheresis in pregnancy.

	Stated by ASFA guidelines (8 th edition)			Reported in literature			
Indication for apheresis in pregnancy	Type of apheresis	Category*	Grade*	Case reports/ series (n)	Retrospective cohorts (n)	Prospective cohorts (n)	Total studies (n)
Obstetric							
Red cell alloimmunization	TPE	III¶	2C¶	44 (103)	4 (29)	7 (168)	55 (300)
Thrombotic microangiopathy				Pregnant patients			
HELLP syndrome	TPE	Postpartum:	2C	24 (34)	4 (56)	2 (39)	30 (129)
		III	2C	2 (2)	-	-	2 (2)
		Antepartum: IV					
Thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura	TPE	I	1A	44 (66)	6 (40)	1 (2)	51 (108)
(Catastrophic) antiphospholipid syndrome	TPE/IA	I	2C	10 (22)	3 (34)	2 (24)	15 (80)
Pre-eclampsia	TPE/LA/sFlt-1	n.a. ^β	n.a. ^β	4 (10)	_	4 (34)	8 (44)
I I I	apheresis						
Hemolytic Uremic Syndrome	TPE	III	2C	6 (6)	-	-	6 (6)
Autoimmune	Non-pregnant patients		Pregnant patients				
Congenital Heart Block (CHB)/ Cardiac neonatal lupus	TPE/IA	III	2C	8 (12)	3 (27)	-	11 (39)
Multiple Sclerosis	TPE/IA	II	1A/B	4 (4)	2 (21)	-	6 (25)
Systemic Lupus Erythematosus (SLE)	TPE	II	2C	5 (5)	3 (11)	-	8 (16)
Polyneuropathy (Guillain-Barré Syndrome)	TPE/IA	Ι	1A/B	7 (8)	1 (4)	-	8 (12)
Myasthenia Gravis	TPE	Ι	1B	7 (8)	1 (3)	-	8 (11)
Neuromyelitis optica	TPE	II	1B	4 (9)	-	-	4 (9)
Pemphigus vulgaris	TPE/IA	III	2B	6 (6)	-	-	6 (6)
Metabolic	Non-pregnant patients			Pregnant patients			
Hypertriglyceridemic pancreatitis	TPE/LA	III	1C	21 (25)	4 (42)	-	25 (67)
Familial hypercholesterolemia	LA	Ι	1A	11 (16)	-	-	11 (16)
	TPE	II	1B	2 (12)	-	-	2 (12)

Categorized indications for apheresis in pregnancy: obstetric, thrombotic microangiopathy, autoimmune, and metabolic. Category and Grade recommendations according to ASFA guidelines 2019 for non-pregnant patients and the number of studies found in medical literature where apheresis is applied in pregnancy, divided in subgroups: case reports/series, retrospective and prospective cohorts with the number (n) of pregnancies treated. Abbreviations: TPE, Therapeutic plasma exchange; LA, Lipoprotein apheresis; IA, Immunoadsorption.

Category I: disorders for which apheresis is accepted as first line therapy; Category II: disorders for which apheresis is accepted as 2nd line therapy; Category III: optimum role of apheresis therapy is not established; Category IV: disorders in which published evidence demonstrates or suggest apheresis to be ineffective or harmful.

Grade 1A: strong recommendation, high quality evidence; Grade 1B: strong recommendation, moderate quality evidence; Grade 1C: strong recommendation, low or very low quality evidence; Grade 2A: weak recommendation, high quality evidence; Grade 2B: weak recommendation, moderate quality evidence; Grade 2C: weak recommendation, low or very low quality evidence.

* As stated by ASFA guidelines for non-pregnant patients.

[¶] Prior to intravascular intrauterine transfusion (IUT) availability.

 $^{\beta}\,$ No fact sheet listed on this topic in the ASFA guidelines.



HELLP = Haemolysis, Elevated Liver enzymes and Low Platelets, TTP = Thrombotic Thrombocytopenic Purpura, aHUS = atypical Haemolytic Uremic Syndrome, aPL = antiphospholipid autoantibodies, SLE = Systemic Lupus Erythematosus

* Number of pregnancies found in literature: 46 placental trombotic microangiopathies, 194 non-placental trombotic microangiopathies, 118 autoimmune, 300 red cell alloimunization ** When intravascular intrauterine transfusion (IUT) is not (yet) possible

Fig. 2. Overview of indications for therapeutic plasma exchange in pregnancy.

Table 2Side effects and complications of apheresis in pregnant and non-pregnant patients.

Category	Symptoms	Reported in the non-pregnant population (%) *	Reported in pregnancy (%) ¶ N = 753 pregnancies	Number of studies reporting side effect	Design of reporting studies
Hypovolemia	Hypotension	0.4-4.2	39 (5.2)	12	6 CR. 2 RC. 4 PC
51	Muscle cramps	0.4–2.5	2 (0.3)	1	1 RC
	Nausea	0.1–1.0	4 (0.5)	3	2 CR, 1 PC
	Headaches	0.3-5.0	5 (0.7)	3	3 CR
Anaphylactic	Urticaria	0.7-12.0	22 (2.9)	8	6 CR, 2 RC
	Rigors	1.1-8.8	0	0	0
Obstetric	Fetal distress ^β	-	8 (1.1)	4	3 CR, 1 PC
	Neonatal infection	-	0	0	0
	Ante- or postpartum	-	2 (0.3)	2	2 CR
	hemorrhage				
Hypocalcemia	Paresthesia	1.5-9.0	8 (1.1)	6	5 CR, 1 RC
Pulmonary	Respiratory arrest/pulmonary	0.2-0.3	5 (0.7)	2	2 CR
	edema				
	Pulmonary embolism	0.1	0	0	0
	Pneumothorax	0.1	1 (0.1)	1	1 CR
Hematologic	Thrombosis/hemorrhage	0.02-0.70	4 (0.5)	4	1 CR, 1 RC, 2 PC
Infectious	Hepatitis	0.7	3 (0.4)	1	1 CR
	Access related	0.3	3 (0.4)	3	3 CR
Cardiac	Myocardial ischemia/	0.1–1.5	0	0	0
	infarction/shock				
	Arrhythmia	0.1–0.7	0	0	0
Neurologic	Seizures	0.03-0.40	0	0	0
	Cerebrovascular ischemia	0.03-0.10	0	0	0
Pyrogenic	Hyperthermia	0.7–1.0	0	0	0

CR = case report/series, RC = retrospective cohort, PC = prospective cohort.

* Occurrence of specific side or adverse effects attributed to therapeutic apheresis in pregnant patients included in Table I (% of 753 total pregnancies), postpartum HELLP excluded.

[¶] Incidence percentages of adverse events for non-pregnant patients were adapted from Kaplan, A. *Complications of apheresis*. Semin Dial, 2012. 25(2): p. 152–8. Data from multiple references comprising over 15.000 treatments. [8].

^β Signs of fetal distress defined as change in fetal heartbeat frequency or ultrasound/doppler during or shortly after therapeutic apheresis.

sessions. Of interest, no adverse effect on fetal dopplers or cardiotocography were reported, suggesting that fetal circulation is uncompromised during TPE procedures when maternal intravascular volume is warranted. It is, therefore, matter of debate whether cardiotocography and/or ultrasound assessments are necessary during TPE procedures, and whether local practices can support the logistic challenges of performing TPE and cardiotocography simultaneously [10,10,11,12,16,17].

The most common adverse event associated with plasma replacement is an allergic reaction where the risk for a single unit of fresh frozen plasma (FFP) is 1.4 % [5]. Allergic reactions were reported in 2.9 % of pregnancies, all when FFP was used as a replacement fluid. The use of albumin or saline as a replacement fluid in TPE reduces the frequency of allergic reactions, although these fluids are associated with other side effects such as depletional coagulopathy, which is not seen if FFP is used [5].

When employing TPE, one needs to realize that besides the removal of potential pathogenic components, also coagulation factors, drug altering enzymes, and immunoglobulins are extracted from the maternal blood. In one volume exchange session, coagulant proteins and immunoglobulins decrease 30-50 % from their baseline levels. Therefore, based on these pathophysiological concepts, increased risks on postpartum haemorrhage can be mitigated by monitoring fibrinogen levels near onset of labour and to leave an interval of at least 24 h. depending on the clinical situation, between the last TPE session and a (planned) delivery [2,18]. In order to estimate the chance on potential neonatal infections, determination of immunoglobulin levels of the newborn can be considered [2]. Also, re-administration of prophylactic RhIg may be considered if TPE is performed in the third trimester [18]. In addition, when applying general anaesthesia after TPE in pregnancy, there is a possible depletion of drug altering enzymes such as cholinesterase, which could lead to prolonged paralysis after succinylcholine administration [19,20].

Symptoms due to hypocalcaemia, could be overcome by monitoring calcium levels prior to the procedure and prophylactic administration if necessary, orally or intravenously [18].

Another important issue when employing TPE in pregnant women concerns the estimation of blood and plasma volume in pregnant women and henceforth a underestimation of plasma volume exchanged during TPE procedures, which could potentially lead to a reduced efficacy of the treatment and maternal hypotension [18]. Therefore, several approaches attempt to adjust for the plasma expansion, i.e. using the pre-pregnancy weight, ideal body weight, increasing the calculated plasma volume by a certain factor (e.g. increase the calculated plasma volume in the second and third trimester by 50 %) to ensure that a sufficient volume of 1–1,5 total plasma volumes is exchanged or using the current weight with the assumption that the added weight of the pregnancy itself will compensate for the expanded blood and plasma volume [3,18]. Despite these considerations, the duration and feasibility of a TPE procedure in a pregnant patient is foremost dependent on how well the procedure can be tolerated.

Lastly, most of the apheresis procedures can be performed using a venous catheter of the forearm as blood access point, but when a prolonged treatment time is expected or peripheral venous access is difficult, a tunnelled internal catheter is indicated. The insertion of a rather large intravenous catheter can lead to bleeding, lung puncture (depending on the site of catheter insertion), thrombosis, and has a higher chance of getting infected. Total access complications account for about 1% of all adverse events in the general population, which is comparable when performed in pregnancy (Table 2) [5,21,22].

Overview of commonly reported indications for TPE in pregnancy

TPE in red cell alloimmunization

Red cell alloimmunization (RCA) is a condition in which maternal antibodies directed against fetal red cell antigens lead to hemolytic disease of the fetus and newborn. Fetal anemia can eventually lead to fetal hydrops and death. TPE was applied during pregnancy for the first time in 1968 in a patient with RCA to remove maternal antibodies directed against fetal red cell antigens, and TPE became a common procedure as a preventive strategy in early pregnancy, however, its efficacy has remained uncertain [1,2,7,23,24]. Nowadays, the incidence of hemolytic disease of the fetus and newborn secondary to anti-D is significantly reduced due to prophylactic administration of RhD immunoglobulins, and ultrasound-guided intravascular intrauterine transfusions have now become the standard of care [25–28]. Currently, TPE may only be considered combined with intravenous immunoglobulins (IVIG) in selected high-risk cases with a history or signs of severe fetal anemia

before 20 weeks of gestation in order to postpone the moment of the first intravascular intrauterine transfusion [1,27–33]. Since the successful introduction of intravascular intrauterine transfusions in the treatment of fetal anaemia, one of the most prevalent indications for TPE during pregnancy has minimalized.

TPE in thrombotic microangiopathies

Thrombotic microangiopathy (TMA) is a clinical syndrome typically characterized by Coombs-negative haemolysis and low platelet counts. The underpinning pathogenesis of TMA in pregnancy can vary and therefore TMA encompasses a category of disorders with comparable presentation. In the majority of cases, placental ischemia may be the initiating event, leading to production of soluble factor(s) by placental tissue that result in maternal endothelial dysfunction, and thus pre-eclampsia [34]. For these placenta-related causes of TMA, delivery is the only curative treatment.

Consequently, TPE is usually *not* indicated prior to delivery. However, in rare cases, TMA is caused by diseases unrelated to the placenta i.e. thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura (TTP), atypical haemolytic uremic syndrome (aHUS) or acquired TMA secondary to drugs, antiphospholipid autoantibodies, or viral infections. In these cases, delivery is often indicated due to the clinical presentation of progressive pre-eclampsia, HELLP syndrome (haemolysis, elevated liver enzymes and low platelets) or acute fatty liver of pregnancy, however *not* curative in contrary to placenta-related TMA. In non-placental related causes of TMA, addition and/or continuation of TPE may be indicated and sometimes life-saving [35,36].

Therefore, the suspicion and identification of non-placental causes, such as TTP and aHUS, for TMA in pregnant women, generally mimicking hypertensive and/or pre-eclamptic symptoms, is highly relevant [36]. Pregnancy is estimated to account for the presenting episode of TTP in 10-25 % and the risk of relapse of TTP in pregnancy is between 60 and 90 % [37]. TPE is the first line treatment and should be started as soon as possible to remove anti-ADAMTS-13 autoantibodies as well as replenish ADAMTS-13 [38]. Although in TTP and aHUS similar clinical manifestation and laboratory findings can be found, from a clinical point of view neurologic symptoms are more common in TTP patients, while renal insufficiency is more often seen in aHUS patients [6,39]. The gestational age at which TMA presents during pregnancy can help: aHUS usually presents in the late third trimester or postpartum period, while TTP mostly (but not exclusively) presents earlier [35,36]. Moreover, TTP and aHUS can be discriminated by confirming low ADAMTS-13 activity levels of <10 % in TTP. Subsequently, therapeutic management of pregnant women can be tailored: TPE is first-line treatment for TTP with addition of immunosuppression such as high dose corticosteroids, while for aHUS potent inhibition of complement activation with eculizumab should be considered as an additional therapeutic strategy to TPE in order to overcome the continuous need for TPE and potentially improve renal recovery [1,35].

TMA can also occur secondary to antiphospholipid syndrome (APS) [40]. Current treatments during pregnancy for APS patients include aspirin and heparin to prevent thromboembolic complications [41,42]. It seems, only in those cases of Catastrophic APS (CAPS) during pregnancy, TPE is a potential treatment option when conventional treatment with anticoagulation, steroids and/ or IVIG fail. In non-pregnant CAPS patients, TPE as a 2nd line therapy has been associated with improved survival [1,43]. In this respect, it is of interest that the application of TPE has also been reported in women with high-risk APS to prevent pregnancy loss [3,10,16,44].

As the cause of TMA cannot always be discriminated early and rapidly, several studies have attempted to evaluate TPE in

pre-eclamptic women. A recent open pilot study evaluated the safety and potential efficacy of a plasma-specific dextran sulphate column to remove circulating soluble FMS-like tyrosine kinase-1 (sFlt-1) in 11 pregnant women with very preterm pre-eclampsia. [17] This study showed promising results on the prolongation of pregnancy while stabilizing sFlt-1 levels, reducing proteinuria and improving postnatal condition of the neonates [17]. However, other studies showed less favourable and inconsistent results [14.21.45.46]. Subsequently, several case reports have reported a possible clinical benefit of TPE in severe postpartum HELLP. One has to consider that many studies lacked investigations, such as ADAMTS-13 measurements to discriminate between placental and non-placental causes of TMA that is associated with the clinical HELLP syndrome [1,47,48]. As such, the ASFA guidelines state that there is no role for TPE in ante-partum HELLP as treatment may delay delivery, the curative treatment for pre-eclampsia and HELLP. If however, maternal condition deteriorates postpartum, application of TPE should be considered, usually until platelet counts are >100 \times 109/L or LDH has normalized and additional investigations should be initiated to identify non-placental causes [1,49-53].

Taken together, as differentiation between pre-eclampsia, TTP or aHUS often takes time and is notoriously difficult, TPE should be initiated at the acute presentation after adequate laboratory tests are secured whenever TTP or aHUS are considered. Additionally, if there is any evidence of threatened maternal or fetal condition, delivery should be expedited [36,54].

TPE in autoimmune diseases

TPE is also applied for different maternal autoimmune diseases during pregnancy, on the premise of removing autoantibodies (Table 1). The most common indication is congenital heart block (CHB) associated with neonatal lupus. Currently, no wellestablished treatment of CHB exist, while hydroxychloroguine use is associated with a reduced incidence of CHB in mothers with a previous pregnancy complicated with CHB [55]. With respect to TPE, the promising outcome of 10 infants with CHB have been reported from mothers treated with the combination of TPE, betamethasone and IVIG during pregnancy. This aggressive combination treatment approach is based on the assumed autoantibody-mediated pathophysiology of CHB attempting to remove the autoantibodies quickly and rigorously. Consequently, a significant decrease of anti-SSa/b autoantibody levels is observed, significant recovery of 2nd degree blocks, increase in heart rate at birth and significantly lower prevalence of pacing in the first year of life. These result are remarkably positive and clinically relevant when compared to the outcomes of 24 CHB patients treated with conventional steroids only [16,56]. Although evidence is limited to a few case reports for pregnant patients with Guillain-Barré syndrome; Myasthenia Gravis; Systemic Lupus Erythematosus; Multiple Sclerosis or Neuromyelitis Optica, TPE is stated as an accepted first or second line treatment in the non-pregnant population [1]. It is arguable that, if no alternative treatment possible, preconceptionally started TPE should be continued in pregnancy for these indications, and in case of deterioration of disease in pregnancy TPE may be taken into consideration [3,57-59].

Therapeutic apheresis in metabolic diseases

Lipid disorders are reported as the sole metabolic disease where therapeutic apheresis has been applied in pregnancy. The pharmacological options for these disorders are largely contraindicated in pregnancy due to potential teratogenicity [60]. Lipoprotein apheresis (LA) is currently the most effective therapy to control LDL-C levels during pregnancy [1,9,61]. In homozygous familial hypercholesterolemia and hypertriglyceridemic pancreatitis, several publications showed that LA treatment during pregnancy resulted in favourable outcomes [9,11,62,63]. Therefore, LA should be initiated before and continued throughout pregnancy with a frequency that maintains acceptable LDL-C levels for individual patients where patients' tolerability is challenged by the high frequency and length of the LA treatment [9,61]. In addition, LA should be recommended as a 2nd line therapy in pregnant women presenting with acute pancreatitis in association with high levels of triglycerides.

Discussion

It can be concluded that the application of TPE during pregnancy remains largely empiric and relies on individual case reports in the absence of high-quality studies and definitive evidence-based guidelines. No distinct safety issues related to TPE have been reported in pregnant women compared to the general population treated with TPE. While performing this review, we noticed that the main indications for TPE during pregnancy have shifted over time. Therefore, in this review, safety issues and thrombotic microangiopathies are discussed extensively, while addressing other indications more briefly.

This overview of the available reported clinical conditions where TPE has been applied during or around pregnancy demonstrate that, nowadays, indications for apheresis during pregnancy can consist of chronic lipid disorders with uncontrollable levels of LDL or triglycerides when pharmacological therapy is withdrawn in the preconception period; autoimmune disease for which no other safe or effective treatment in the pregnancy setting is available; and a prophylactic and last resort setting for patients with CHB and (C)APS. In case of TMAs presenting during pregnancy, delivery is expedited, while the decision to apply TPE should be based on differential diagnosis (Fig. 2) and maternal conditions postpartum.

Although hypotension is described more often during TPE in pregnancy than in the non-pregnant population, other safety issues of TPE in pregnancy seem to have a favourable profile. However, it is important to note that one should be careful to conclude that the current data in this review reflect the 'true' safety of TPE because obvious reporter bias may be present in the literature reviewed for this study. Additionally, when investigating reported side effects, it needs to be taken into account that published cases are mostly from centres with an experienced team and a controlled setting. Hence, TPE procedures have been reported to be applied safely throughout the entire course of pregnancies to treat acute or chronic maternal conditions and to prevent fetal morbidity, including prolongation of pregnancy to reduce fetal prematurity. Additionally, TPE can sometimes avoid or replace the administration of potentially teratogenic drugs.

The present study can support the counselling of patients on the risks and benefits of TPE in pregnancy. It is important to note that all available knowledge regarding TPE during pregnancy is limited to case series and a few cohort studies. This lack of data is also related to the scarcity of the diseases and the fact that many TPE indications have a low evidence level in the ASFA guidelines. Thus, recommendations will be mostly based on extrapolation of data from studies performed in a non-pregnant population. Given the little evidence available on TPE in pregnancy, it is recommendable to monitor the indications, safety and efficacy in an international registry with predefined key data collection, which might provide better understanding with a higher level of evidence in the future. Overall, based on the limited evidence that we found in literature, TPE procedures can be used safely during pregnancy with the appropriate preparation and experience of a multidisciplinary team.

Ethics

Not applicable.

Contribution to Authorship

All authors contributed to the conception and design of the work. M. Wind: Collected and interpreted the data, wrote the manuscript. YKOT/MS: Conceived the idea for the article, supervised and revised the manuscript for important intellectual content. TJR, AGAG, LEMO, JMML: revised the manuscript for important intellectual content. All authors revised and approved the final draft of the manuscript.

Declaration of Competing Interest

The author reports no conflicts of interest in this work.

Acknowledgements

Grant support: The work of Y.K. Onno Teng was supported by the Dutch Kidney Foundation (170KG04)

We thank R. de Koning (BMS) and T.A. Bos (BMS) for screening the selected publications for reported complications.

References

- [1] Padmanabhan A, Connelly-Smith L, Aqui N, Balogun RA, Klingel R, Meyer E, et al. Guidelines on the use of therapeutic apheresis in clinical practice – evidence-based approach from the writing committee of the american society for apheresis: the eighth special issue. J Clin Apher 2019;34(3):171–354.
- [2] Marson P, Gervasi MT, Tison T, Colpo A, De Silvestro G. Therapeutic apheresis in pregnancy: general considerations and current practice. Transfus Apher Sci 2015;53(3):256–61.
- [3] Colpo A, Marson P, Pavanello F, Tison T, Gervasi MT, Zambon A, et al. Therapeutic apheresis during pregnancy: a single center experience. Transfus Apher Sci 2019.
- [4] Norda R, Stegmayr BG. Therapeutic apheresis in Sweden: update of epidemiology and adverse events. Transfus Apher Sci 2003;29(2):159–66.
- [5] Mokrzycki MH, Balogun RA. Therapeutic apheresis: a review of complications and recommendations for prevention and management. J Clin Apher 2011;26 (5):243–8.
- [6] Perrone G, Brunelli R, Marcoccia E, Zannini I, Candelieri M, Gozzer M, et al. Therapeutic apheresis in pregnancy: three differential indications with positive maternal and fetal outcome. Ther Apher Dial 2016.
- [7] Bowman JM, Peddle LJ, Anderson C. Plasmapheresis in severe Rh isoimmunization. Vox Sang 1968;15(4):272–7.
- [8] Kaplan A. Complications of apheresis. Semin Dial 2012;25(2):152-8.
- [9] Ogura M, Makino H, Kamiya C, Yoshimatsu J, Soran H, Eatough R, et al. Lipoprotein apheresis is essential for managing pregnancies in patients with homozygous familial hypercholesterolemia: seven case series and discussion. Atherosclerosis 2016;254:179–83.
- [10] El-Haieg DO, Zanati MF, El-Foual FM. Plasmapheresis and pregnancy outcome in patients with antiphospholipid syndrome. Int J Gynaecol Obstet 2007;99 (3):236–41.
- [11] Beigel Y, Bar J, Cohen M, Hod M. Pregnancy outcome in familial homozygous hypercholesterolemic females treated with long-term plasma exchange. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand 1998;77(6):603–8.
- [12] Dittrich E, Schmaldienst S, Langer M, Jansen M, Hörl WH, Derfler K. Immunoadsorption and plasma exchange in pregnancy. Kidney Blood Press Res 2002;25(4):232–9.
- [13] Nakakita B, Mogami H, Kondoh E, Tsukamoto T, Yanagita M, Konishi I. Case of soluble fms-like tyrosine kinase 1 apheresis in severe pre-eclampsia developed at 15 weeks gestation. J Obstet Gynaecol Res 2015;41(10):1661–3.
- [14] Martin Jr.[167_TD\$DIFF] JN, Perry Jr. KG, Roberts WE, Norman PF, Files JC, Blake PG, et al. Plasma exchange for preeclampsia: II. Unsuccessful antepartum utilization for severe preeclampsia with or without HELLP syndrome. J Clin Apher 1994;9(3):155–61.
- [15] Thadhani R, Kisner T, Hagmann H, Bossung V, Noack S, Schaarschmidt W, et al. Pilot study of extracorporeal removal of soluble fms-like tyrosine kinase 1 in preeclampsia. Circulation 2011;124(8):940–50.
- [16] Ruffatti A, Favaro M, Brucato A, Ramoni V, Facchinetti M, Tonello M, et al. Apheresis in high risk antiphospholipid syndrome pregnancy and autoimmune congenital heart block. Transfus Apher Sci 2015;53(3):269–78.
- [17] Thadhani R, Hagmann H, Schaarschmidt W, Roth B, Cingoez T, Karumanchi SA, et al. Removal of soluble fms-like tyrosine Kinase-1 by dextran sulfate apheresis in preeclampsia. J Am Soc Nephrol 2016;27(3):903–13.

- [18] Cox JL, Koepsell SA, Shunkwiler SM. Therapeutic plasma exchange and pregnancy: a case report and guidelines for performing plasma exchange in a pregnant patient. J Clin Apher 2016.
- [19] Evans RTM, MacDonald R, Robinson A. Suxamethonium apnoea associated with plasmaphoresis. Anaesthesia 1980;35(2):198–201.
- [20] Evans RTR, Robinson A. The combined effects of pregnancy and repeated plasma exchange on serum cholinesterase activity. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand 1984;28(1):44-6.
- [21] Wang Y, Walli AK, Schulze A, Blessing F, Fraunberger P, Thaler C, et al. Heparinmediated extracorporeal low density lipoprotein precipitation as a possible therapeutic approach in preeclampsia. Transfus Apher Sci 2006;35(2):103–10.
- [22] Shelat SG. Practical considerations for planning a therapeutic apheresis procedure. Am J Med 2010;123(9):777–84.
- [23] Fraser ID, Bothamley JE, Bennett MO, Airth GR. Intensive antenatal plasmapheresis in severe rhesus isoimmunisation. Lancet (London, England). 1976;1(7949):6–8.
- [24] Angela E, Robinson E, Tovey LA. Intensive plasma exchange in the management of severe Rh disease. Br J Haematol 1980;45(4):621–31.
- [25] Crowther CA, Middleton P, McBain RD. Anti-D administration in pregnancy for preventing Rhesus alloimmunisation. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2013(2) Cd000020.
- [26] Koelewijn JM, de Haas M, Vrijkotte TG, Bonsel GJ, van der Schoot CE. One single dose of 200 microg of antenatal RhIG halves the risk of anti-D immunization and hemolytic disease of the fetus and newborn in the next pregnancy. Transfusion 2008;48(8):1721–9.
- [27] Rodeck CH, Kemp JR, Holman CA, Whitmore DN, Karnicki J, Austin MA. Direct intravascular fetal blood transfusion by fetoscopy in severe Rhesus isoimmunisation. Lancet 1981;1(8221):625–7.
- [28] Zwiers C, van Kamp I, Oepkes D, Lopriore E. Intrauterine transfusion and noninvasive treatment options for hemolytic disease of the fetus and newborn – review on current management and outcome. Expert Rev Hematol 2017;10 (4):337–44.
- [29] Novak DJ, Tyler LN, Reddy RL, Barsoom MJ. Plasmapheresis and intravenous immune globulin for the treatment of D alloimmunization in pregnancy. J Clin Apher 2008;23(6):183–5.
- [30] Ruma MS, Moise Jr. KJ, Kim E, Murtha AP, Prutsman WJ, Hassan SS, et al. Combined plasmapheresis and intravenous immune globulin for the treatment of severe maternal red cell alloimmunization. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2007;196(2)138.e1-6.
- [31] Bellone M, Boctor FN. Therapeutic plasma exchange and intravenous immunoglobulin as primary therapy for D alloimmunization in pregnancy precludes the need for intrauterine transfusion. Transfusion 2014;54 (8):2118–21.
- [32] Papantoniou NS, Sifakis S, Antsaklis A. Therapeutic management of fetal anemia: review of standard practice and alternative treatment options. J Perinat Med 2013;41(1):71–82.
- [33] Schumacher B, Moise Jr. KJ. Fetal transfusion for red blood cell alloimmunization in pregnancy. Obstet Gynecol 1996;88(1):137–50.
- [34] Maynard SE, Min JY, Merchan J, Lim KH, Li J, Mondal S, et al. Excess placental soluble fms-like tyrosine kinase 1 (sFlt1) may contribute to endothelial dysfunction, hypertension, and proteinuria in preeclampsia. J Clin Invest 2003;111(5):649–58.
- [35] Fakhouri F, Vercel C, Fremeaux-Bacchi V. Obstetric nephrology: AKI and thrombotic microangiopathies in pregnancy. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol 2012;7 (12):2100–6.
- [36] Scully M. Thrombotic thrombocytopenic Purpura and atypical hemolytic uremic syndrome microangiopathy in pregnancy. Semin Thromb Hemost 2016;42(7):774–9.
- [37] Scully MS, Starke R, Lee R, Mackie I, Machin S, Cohen H. Successful management of pregnancy in women with a history of thrombotic thrombocytopaenic purpura. Blood Coagul Fibrinolysis 2006;17(6):459–63.
- [38] Savignano C, Rinaldi C, De Angelis V. Pregnancy associated thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura: practical issues for patient management. Transfus Apher Sci 2015;53(3):262–8.
- [39] Stella CL, Dacus J, Guzman E, Dhillon P, Coppage K, How H, et al. The diagnostic dilemma of thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura/hemolytic uremic syndrome in the obstetric triage and emergency department: lessons from 4 tertiary hospitals. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2009;200(4):381–6.
- [40] Miyakis S, Lockshin MD, Atsumi T, Branch DW, Brey RL, Cervera R, et al. International consensus statement on an update of the classification criteria for definite antiphospholipid syndrome (APS). J Thromb Haemost 2006;4 (2):295–306.
- [41] Gomez-Puerta JAE, Espinosa G, Cervera R. Catastrophic antiphospholipid syndrome: diagnosis and management in pregnancy. Clin Lab Med 2013;33 (2):391–400.
- [42] Cervera R, Bucciarelli S, Plasin MA, Gomez-Puerta JA, Plaza J, Pons-Estel G, et al. Catastrophic antiphospholipid syndrome (CAPS): descriptive analysis of a series of 280 patients from the "CAPS Registry". J Autoimmun 2009;32(3–4):240–5.
- [43] Asherson RA. The catastrophic antiphospholipid (Asherson's) syndrome. Autoimmun Rev 2006;6(2):64–7.
- [44] DM-P Schlembach, Cervar-Zivkovic KI, Moertl M, Lang MG, Schleussner U, E. PP068. Catastrophic antiphospholipid-syndrome (CAPS) - A severe pregnancy complication. Pregnancy Hypertens 2012;2(3):278.
- [45] Winkler K, Contini C, Konig B, Krumrey B, Putz G, Zschiedrich S, et al. Treatment of very preterm preeclampsia via heparin-mediated extracorporeal

European Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology and Reproductive Biology 260 (2021) 29–36

LDL-precipitation (H.E.L.P.) apheresis: the Freiburg preeclampsia H.E.L.P.-Apheresis study. Pregnancy Hypertens 2018;12:136–43.

- [46] Haddad B, Lefevre G, Rousseau A, Robert T, Saheb S, Rafat C, et al. LDLapheresis to decrease sFlt-1 during early severe preeclampsia: report of two cases from a discontinued phase II trial. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 2018;231:70–4.
- [47] Pourrat O, Coudroy R, Pierre F. Differentiation between severe HELLP syndrome and thrombotic microangiopathy, thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura and other imitators. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 2015;189:68–72.
- [48] George JNN, Nester CM, McIntosh JJ. Syndromes of thrombotic microangiopathy associated with pregnancy. Hematology Am Soc Hematol Educ Program 2015;2015:644–8.
- [49] Martin Jr. JN. Milestones in the quest for best management of patients with HELLP syndrome (microangiopathic hemolytic anemia, hepatic dysfunction. thrombocytopenia). Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2013;121(3):202–7.
- [50] Erkurt MA, Berber I, Berktas HB, Kuku I, Kaya E, Koroglu M, et al. A life-saving therapy in Class I HELLP syndrome: therapeutic plasma exchange. Transfus Apher Sci 2015;52(2):194–8.
- [51] Bayraktaroglu Z, Demirci F, Balat O, Kutlar I, Okan V, Ugur G. Plasma exchange therapy in HELLP syndrome: a single-center experience. Turk J Gastroenterol 2006;17(2):99–102.
- [52] Eser B, Guven M, Unal A, Coskun R, Altuntas F, Sungur M, et al. The role of plasma exchange in HELLP syndrome. Clin Appl Thromb Hemost 2005;11 (2):211–7.
- [53] Martin Jr. JN, Files JC, Blake PG, Perry Jr. KG, Morrison JC, Norman PH. Postpartum plasma exchange for atypical preeclampsia-eclampsia as HELLP (hemolysis, elevated liver enzymes, and low platelets) syndrome. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1995;172(4 Pt 1)1107–25 discussion 25-27.

- [54] Ugur BAK MA, Camli K. Successful management of thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura associated with pregnancy. Transfus Apher Sci 2014;50(3):433–7.
- [55] Izmirly PM, Costedoat-Chalumeau N, Pisoni CN, Khamashta MA, Kim MY, Saxena A, et al. Maternal use of hydroxychloroquine is associated with a reduced risk of recurrent anti-SSA/Ro-antibody-associated cardiac manifestations of neonatal lupus. Circulation 2012;126(1):76–82.
- [56] Ruffatti A, Cerutti A, Favaro M, Del Ross T, Calligaro A, Hoxha A, et al. Plasmapheresis, intravenous immunoglobulins and bethametasone - a combined protocol to treat autoimmune congenital heart block: a prospective cohort study. Clin Exp Rheumatol 2016;34(4):706–13.
- [57] Ferrero SP Š, Nicoletti A, Petrera P, Ragni N. Myasthenia gravis: management issues during pregnancy. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 2005;121(2):129–38.
- [58] Hoffmann F, Kraft A, Heigl F, Mauch E, Koehler J, Harms L, et al. Tryptophan immunoadsorption during pregnancy and breastfeeding in patients with acute relapse of multiple sclerosis and neuromyelitis optica. Ther Adv Neurol Disord 2018;11:1756286418774973.
- [59] Chan LYT MH, Leung TN. Guillain-Barre syndrome in pregnancy. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand 2004;83(4):319–25.
- [60] Hosokawa A, Bar-Oz B, Ito S. Use of lipid-lowering agents (statins) during pregnancy. Can Fam Physician 2003;49:747–9.
- [61] Russi G. Severe dyslipidemia in pregnancy: the role of therapeutic apheresis. Transfus Apher Sci 2015;53(3):283–7.
- [62] Klingel R, Gohlen B, Schwarting A, Himmelsbach F, Straube R. Differential indication of lipoprotein apheresis during pregnancy. Ther Apher Dial 2003;7 (3):359–64.
- [63] Huang CL, Liu J, Lu Y, Fan J, et al. Clinical features and treatment of hypertriglyceridemia-induced acute pancreatitis during pregnancy: a retrospective study. J Clin Apher 2016;31(6):571–8.